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“Let’s Look Back” 

History of Crouchville (Columbus) School  
Written by Mickey Roate; Researched by Roderick Reese 

Entered on computer, June 1, 2006, by S. Connie Halbur 
Notes written by Halbur are in italics, in brackets. 

 
With the demolition of the Columbus School building, many old timers might recall 
incidents and people that influenced their lives while being educated in that building. 
 
On Feb. 3, 1904, one acre of land was purchased for $500 from the farm of Orson S. 
Raymond for construction of a 4-room school for School District No. 12, New Cassel, 
Towns of Ashford and Auburn.  $7000 at 3 ½ % was obtained from the State Trust Fund.  
The School Board consisted of Peter Terlinden, Henry Leibel, and James Bannon. 
 
In the first year of use (1906), Margaret Fellenz was the teacher, who received $35 per 
month and M. C. McCoullough, $60.  Budget for the district was near $2,500 for the 
year. 
 
Children in the district walked for many miles to attend school and some came by horse 
and buggy. There were no walks and very poor roads and not much of a playground; of 
course, outside plumbing. Electricity was not installed until Feb. of 1927 by Wayland 
Heimer for $95. 
 
In 1953 District 12 consolidated with District 2 to form the present high school district 
No. 23.  Columbus School remained closed since the students were transferred to the new 
school on Sheboygan Street.  Clem Kleinhans purchased the Columbus School property 
in 1954 for use as a storage building.  In 1961, Elwin Broom Mfg., purchased the 
building to be also used for storage.  In October of 1981Marvis Lemke Construction 
bought the property and removed the school building to make way for a condominium on 
the site.   
 
Remember you teachers?  Margaret Fellenz, C.L. Moulton, E. Hephner, Irene Budahn,  
Alma Hughes, Leonora Sweet, Edwin Kuehl, Esther Sprague, Alice Fleischman (Weber), 
Katherine McGown, Adell Benson, Bernard O’Rourke, Victor Schumann, Rose 
Schlaefer, Francis Kuehl, James McDougal, Olive Schlaefer, Ollie Bast, Esther Will, 
Irene Schommer, Katherine Wright, Esther Buslaff, Alberta Wright, David Twohig, 
Marion Plummer, Harols Smith, Irene Hahn, Agnes Wilson, Marg Block, Jeannette 
Meyer, Betty Petrie, Mrs. Vernice Lenz, Mrs. Bernice Rauch,  and Mrs. Lucy Swanson.  
The salaries rose from $35 a month in 1905 to $214 per month in 1952 (47 years), and 
when the district consolidated.  Often the teachers were responsible for all eight grades in 
the school.   
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Members of the Columbus School Board were Gordon Raymond, treasurer; Edward 
Terlinden, director; and Edward Ours, clerk.  Many persons served for many years.  
Some names which may ring a bell are Henry Leibel, Bob Raymond, Peter Terlinden, 
P.E. Uelmen, Frank Flanagan, Gilbert McDougal, Jacob Kleinhans, George Straub, Peter 
Hahn, and Gordon Ellis.   
 
Columbus School succeeded the first public school (Crouchville School) in that area 
which was located on E. Forest Street, east of the Mary Serwe house, often rweferred to 
as “lower town”, the east area of the present Campbellsport.   
 
The original building was constructed of logs with a poncheron plank floor. A well for 
water was nearby as were the toilets.  In the early 1920s the structure was hauled away 
for fill.  The school was called Crouchville School and the land for it was donated by 
Ludin Crouch, the founder of this community settlement in 1846.  The log school was 
erected sometime in 1848 and a stone structure replaced it in 1858 after lime was 
introduced to make mortar for the stone.   
 
The building was used for many years by the town boards of Auburn and Ashford for 
their meetings.  Church services were also held by all denominations of the community 
until their own church was built.   
 
Early school expenditures averaged about $600 per year.  Mr. Leonard Morrisey was the 
principal and teacher for many years, assisted now and then by Celia Goss, Gilbert 
Hardgrove, C. McCormick, W.J. Green, F. Kelly and Margaret Fellenz.  Mathias E. 
Theisen, Jr., taught for three years.  Wm. M. Prehm was a director for over 20 years as 
was James Bannon, Orson Raymond, James Kraemer, and John Leibel.   
 
The Crouchville land was purchased from Peter J. Hilbert, Real Estate on Jan., 1945 by 
Mr. and Mrs. Chester Gillard, block 15, lots 5 and 6 of the New Cassel plat.  They 
remodeled their home, and Mrs. Gillard still occupies it.   
 
In the early years, logs were laid across the river with their tops and bottoms sawed so 
they would not roll, and were braced.  The stockade bridge was introduced in the 1850’s 
and used until the steel plank and stone slab abutments were available in the 1890’s.   
 
(Town board members and others assisted in compiling the early history of Crouchville.) 
 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
[The following page was attached to the above.  Much of it is verbatim repetition.  It is 
included here because of the few additions.] 
 
Meyer, Betty Petrie, Mrs. Vernice Lenz, Mrs. Bernice Rauch,  and Mrs. Lucy Swanson.  
The salaries rose from $35 a month in 1905 to $214 per month in 1952 (47 years), and 
when the district consolidated.  Often the teachers were responsible for all eight grades in 
the school.   
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Members of the final Columbus School Board were Gordon Raymond, treasurer; Edward 
Terlinden, director; and Edward Ours, clerk.  Many persons served for many years.  
Some names which may ring a bell are Henry Leibel, Bob Raymond, Peter Terlinden, 
P.E. Uelmen, Frank Flanagan, Gilbert McDougal, Jacob Kleinhans, George Straub, Peter 
Hahn, and Gordon Ellis.   
 
Columbus School succeeded the first public school in that area which was located on E. 
Forest Street, east of the Mary Serwe house, often referred to as “lower town”, the east 
area of the present Campbellsport.   
 
The original building was constructed of logs with a poncheron plank floor. A well for 
water was nearby as were the toilets.  In the early 1920s the structure was hauled away 
for fill.  The school was called Crouchville School and the land for it was donated by 
Ludin Crouch, the founder of this community settlement in 1846.  The log school was 
erected sometime in 1848 and a stone structure replaced it in 1858 after lime was 
introduced to make mortar for the stone.   
 
The building was used for many years by the town boards of Auburn and Ashford for 
their meetings.  Church services were also held by all denominations of the community 
until their own church was built.   
 
Early school expenditures averaged about $600 per year.  Mr. Leonard Morrisey was the 
principal and teacher for many years, assisted now and then by Celia Goss, Gilbert 
Hardgrove, C. McCormick, W.J. Green, F. Kelly and Margaret Fellenz.   
 
The original school board consisted of John P. Husting, James Bannon, and C.J. Glass.  
These were pioneer founders of not only the public school, but of the community as it 
was known in 1895. 
 
Some of the people that taught at the Crouchville School   [This line was meant to be a 
heading. From here on, Mr. Reese’s note are in his handwriting.  I have copied this as he 
wrote it.] 
 
Mathias E. Theisen Jr. taught at the Crouchville  School for three years. William H. 
Prehn – Was director of Crouchville Schoolfor over 20 years.  He rented a home.  The 
John Bauer Farm home.  Orson Raymond – Was a director for over 20 years. Roman 
Fahney farm home.  James Kraemer – Was a director for over 20 years.  Donald 
Lichtensteiger home.  John Leibel – Was a director for a number of years.  The home on 
the northwest corner of Spring and Jenny St. 
 
The Crouchville School land was purchased from Peter J. Hilbert Real estate on January 
16, 1945 by Mr. and Mrs. Chester Gillard.  Location: Block 15, lots 5 & 6 of the New 
Cassel Plat of the Village of Campbellsport.   
 
They remodeled their home on lot 5 and Mrs. Gillard is retired and still living there.   
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In the early years the logs were laid across the rivers, with the top and bottom sawed so 
they would not roll, and was braced so that they would not roll. 
 
The stockade bridge was introduced in the 1850s and used up until the steel plank, and 
stone slab abutments were manufactured in the 1890s.   
 
I wish to thank all the people of Campbellsport, and the members of the town boards, so 
that I could compile the history of the early years of Crouchville. 
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